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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

Lori A. Weaver E29 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301-3857
Commissioner 603-271-9206 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 9200

Fax: 603-271-4912 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov
Morissa S. Henn
Deputy Commissioner

June 4, 2025
Her Excellency, Governor Kelly A. Ayotte
and the Honorable Council
State Houss
Concord, NH 03301
REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Depariment of Health and Human Services, Office of the Commissioner,
to enter into a Sole Source Retroactive amendment to an existing agreement with Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC# 177160), Lebanon, NH, to exercise an available contract
renewal option for the Contractor to continue providing critical clinical and administrative
services o meet specialized health needs of New Hampshire residents in five (5) service
areas, including Medicaid; Children, Youth, and Families; Behavioral Health; Adult and Aging
Services; and Developmental Services, by increasing the price limitation by $5,508,524 from
$9,724,586 to $15,233,110 and extending the completion date from June 30, 2025, to June 30,
2027, effective retroactive to March 24, 2025, upon Governor and Council approval. 20%
Federal Funds. 80% General Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, item
#10, and amended on June 26, 2024, item #12.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Year 2025 and are
anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2026 and 2027, upon the availability and
continued appropriation of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust
budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years
through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

See attached fiscal details.

EXPLANATION

In 2016, the Department entered into a competitively bid agreement with Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital to provide clinical and administrative services in seven (7)
service areas: New Hampshire Hospital (NHH); Glencliff Home; Medicaid; Children, Youth,
and Families; Behavioral Health; Adult and Aging Services; and Developmental Services. In
2022, due to the need to address clinical services at the planned secure psychiatric forensic
unit at NHH, the Department 1) competitively reprocured for clinical services at New
Hampshire Hospital and Glencliff Home and 2) entered into a new, separate agreement with
the Contractor to continue clinical and administrative services for the remaining five (5) DHHS
service areas. The Contractor has the necessary specialized experience, qualifications, and
staffing capacily to provide the complex array of services to the Department across five (5)
different service areas necessary fo meet clinical and administrative needs for New Hampshire
residents served. This request is Sole Source because MOP 150 requires all amendments to
agreements originally approved as sole source be identified as sole source.

This request is Retroactive because the Department received nolification of
termination of the Community Health Services & Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment
Block Grant federal award, effective March 24, 2025, which partially funded behavioral health
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services in this agreement. The Department is therefore removing technical assistance and

.training services for community mental health and substance use disorder treatment
organizations, as well as the evaluation of NH's behavioral health crisis system, Rapid
Response, effective the date of the federal funding termination.

The purpose of this request is to exercise an available contract renewal option for the
Contractor to continue providing clinical and administrative services for Medicaid; Children,
Youth, and Families; Behavioral Health; Adult and Aging Services; and Developmental
Services. The Department does not employ the clinical staff necessary to provide these
critical services. This includes providing: :

The Department’s Chief Medical Officer, who plays an integral role in providing
medical oversight of the State's publicly funded health insurance programs,
informs key policy decisions, and shapes administrative planning strategies that
enhance the operating efficiency of Medicaid and Children's Health Insurance
Program (CHIP), and related healthcare initiatives across the state.

Medical and psychiatric services required for youth at Sununu Youth Services
Center (SYSC). Clinicians provide trauma-focused cognitive and dialectical .
behavioral therapy, treatment planning, clinical consultations, case reviews, and
assessments for freatment coordinators. Clinicians inform SYSC program
development to promote stability within the facility, improve transitional
processes between residential and community-based programs for court-

. Involved youths, and reduce recidivism from unmet behavioral health

needs.

Medical director support to the Division for Behavioral Health, including
addressing behavioral health clinical issues, reviewing and informing behavioral
health policy, reviewing and informing Medicaid and state rule issues, and
coordinating care between New Hampshire Hospital and Community Mental
Health Centers.

Medical director support to Adult and Aging Services, including advising on AduItA
and Aging Services clinical components of the service delivery mode; providing

- clinical expertise and guidance to the Department in the development of services

to ensure they support weliness and prevention initiatives to improve the lives of
individuals served; providing expertise on emerging trends in clinical practice, _
research and best practices that positively impact service development and
delivery for NH's aging population and those receiving Adult Protective Services.

Medical director support, including psychiatric consuitations to Developmental
Services and services in response to referrals from the ten (10) Area Agencies
and the Department; and convening and providing medical professionals for two

" (2) Interdisciplinary Clinic Teams, including one (1) team for adults and one for

children with complex medical and/or developmental needs, to assist families
andfor service provider(s) with better supporting the adult or child in the
community. The Interdisciplinary Clinic Team, which conducts treatment planning,

‘clinical consultations, case reviews, and assessments for clients, also assists

Developmental Services staff in addressing medical issues related to quality
assurance activities or sentinel event reviews.
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The services and support provided by the Contractor continue to demonstrate positive
impact on Department program areas. For example, the quality of healthcare services provided
to Medicaid beneficlaries in the most recent Centers for Medicare & Medicaid (CMS)
Scorecard demonstrated moderate-to-excellent performance. The Depariment was able to
submit performance on 83 of 86 core set measures covering adults, children, behavioral
health, and matemity care. Under this agreement, the Medical Director position provides
clinical direction and guidance for goals contained in tha Care Management Quality Strategy
(https://medicaidquality.nh.gov/care-management-quality- strategy), plays a key role in the
development and evaluation of clinical utilization and appropriateness of care criteria and
measures, and supports the development of measures and improvement goals for the
Medicaid Care Management Program’'s annual withhold and incentive program. The
Department will continue to monitor and ensure the continued provision of high-quality services
through required performance ‘melrics and monitoring processes and annual reviews of
Contractor personnel performance.

As referenced in Exhibit A of the of the original agreement, the parties have the option
to extend the agreement for up to four (4) additional years, contingent upon satisfactory
delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and Govermnor and Council
approval. The Department is exercising its option to renew services for two {(2) years of the four
(4) years available.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department will no
longer have a Chlef Medical Officer role that is necessary to operate the NH Medicaid
program; ensure all clinical programs compty with state and federal regulations; maintain a
formal quality assurance and quality improvement function within the NH Medicaid program;
and implement federal health care reforms and clinical quality initiatives. Without the Chief
Medical Officer role, the Department will not have the expertise and skill set necessary to judge
clinically complex cases with Medicaid and Board of Medicine standards on approvals or
denials of care made by Medicaid Managed Care Organizations (MCO), exposing the
‘Department to inappropriate costs and/or care with regulatory compliance exposure with CMS
or legal liability exposure. In addition, the Chief Medical Officer supports the NH Medicaid
program by providing expertise in a number of complex compliance areas, such as Early and
Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment (EPSDT), and helping to ensure treatment
costs are appropriately picked up by the MCOs (as opposed to shifting costs to State
funding). The Chief Medical Officer also provides judgement on criteria and utilization for
adopting high-cost gene or biologic therapies and working through complex cases on
appropriate use. The Department will also no longer have the clinical. staff necessary to
conduct a wide array of other services to meet the needs of New Hampshire residents and
clients. Youth served at the Sununu Youth Services Center (SYSC) will no longer be able to
receive medical and psychiatric services, as well as trauma-based therapy services and
treatment planning that allow for more successful transitions back into the community and
reduce recidivism. Additionally, children and adults served within the Developmental Services
system, and the providers that support them, will not have access to treatment planning, clinical
consultations, case reviews, and assessments that enable community living.

Area served: Statewide.

Sources of Federal Funds: ALN 93.004, FAIN 2401NHOASS-04; ALN 93.778, FAIN

2505NH5ADM; and ALN 93.994, FAIN B0454562.
Respectfully submitted,

A~

Lori A. Weaver
Commissioner

The Depariment of Health and Human Services’ Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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Fiscal Details
$85-2022-OCOM-02-CLINI-01-A02 (Clinical and Administrative Services)

05-95-95-850010-50000000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, COMMISSIONER'S OFFICE, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER, COMMISSIONER'S

OFFICE
State Increased .
Fiscal Sgeiassl Class Title |Job Number Current (Decreased) il
: Account Budget Budget
Year Amount
2022 |102-500731 | Contracts for | g663a03 $148,811 so|  $148.811
Prog Svc .
2023 [102-500731 | Comtracts for| gensaa03 $459,358 so|  $459,358
Prog Svc
Subtotal $608,169 30 $608,169

05-95-47-470010-79370000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, DIVISION OF MEDICAID SERVICES, OFFICE OF MEDICAID SERVICES, MEDICAID
ADMINISTRATION

. State Class/ Current increased Revised
Fiscal Account Class Title |Job Number Budaet {Decreased) Budaet
Year g Amount 9
2024 |102-500731 | Contractsfor | 4000001 $472,670 sol  s$472670
Prog Svc '
2025 |[102-500731 | Contractsfor | 4200021 $486,381 so|  $486,381
Prog Svc.
2026 |102-500731 | Contractsfor | o h00021 $0 $486.765|  $486.765
Prog Svc
2027 |102-800731 | Convactsfor i on00021 $0 $500971]  $500.971
Prog Svc
Sublotal]  $959,051 $987,736| $1,946,787

05-95-42-421510-66430000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: HUMAN SERVICES, SUNUNU YOUTH SERVICE CENTER, SYSC

State cl / C ¢ Increased Revised
Fiscal ass Class Title |Job Number urren {Decreased) evise
Account Budget Budget
Year Amount
Medical
2022 |101-500729 Paymentsto | 42151501 $279,985 $0 $279,985
Providers
Medical : )
- 2023 1101-500729 Paymentsto | 42151501 $864,807 $0 $864,807
Providers :
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2024

101-500729

Medical
Payments to
Providers

42151501

$890,406

$0

$890,406

2025

101-500729

Medical
Payments to
Providers

42151501

$1,206,701

$0

$1,206,701

2026

101-500729

Medical
Payments to
Providers

42151501

$0

$1,268,851

$1,268,851

2027

101-500729

Medical
Payments to
Providers

42151501

$0

$1,306,399

$1,306,399

Subtotal

$3,241,899

$2,575,250

$5,817,149

05-95-92-922010-41170000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, CMH
PROGRAM SUPPORT

State Class/ Current Increase Revised
Fiscal Class Title |Job Number (Decreased)
: Account Budget Budget
Year Amount
2022 |102-500731 | Comractsforl oo004117 | $199,947 so|  $199.947
Prog Svc
2023 [102-500731 C‘i’,“"a"‘s forl 92204117 $616,422 so| se16,422
rog Svc
2024 |102:500731 [ Convactsfor | goo04117 | $634,191 so|]  $634,191
Prog Svc
Contracts for
2025 [102-500731 Prog Svc 92204117 - $652,492 $0]. $652,492
3 Contracts for
2026 102-500731 Prog Svc 92204147 $0 $694,244 $694,244
Contracts for
2027 102-500731 Prog Svc 92204117 $0| $714,001 $714,001
Subtotal]l $2,103,052 $1,408,245| $3,511,297

05-95-92-9ﬁ2010-41200000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, MENTAL

HEALTH BLOCK GRANT

State

Increased

Fiscal glassl/ Class Title [Job Number GHRGENt (Decreased) Reyised
Account Budget Budget
Year Amount
2022 |102-500731 | Contracts for | gon54120 $97,114 ($33,836) $63,278
Prog Svc
2023 |1o2-s00731 | CoOMECIS Ot 95054100 | $286.437 $15.101)  $271,336
Prog Sve
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Contracts for )
2024 |102-500731 - Prog Sve 92254120 $257,564 ($23,221) $234,343
' Contracts for , ) .
2025 |102-500731 Prog Sve 92254120 $359,041 ($39,535) $319,506
Sublotal| $1,000,156 ($111,693) $888,463] .

05-95-48-481010-78720000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: DLTSS-ELDERLY&ADULT SVCS, GRANTS FOR SOCIAL SVC PROG, ADM ON

AGING
State Increased )
Fiscal ACI::S It Class Title |Job Number (éurdre:tt {Decreased) F;evc;se:i
Year geoun udg Amount udge
Social
2022 |540-500382 Services 48130305 $13,420 $0 $13,420
Contract
Social
2023 |540-500382 Services 48130305 $41,461 $0 $41.461
Contract
Social
2024 |540-500382 Senvices 48130305 $42,696 $0 $42,696
Contract
| Social
2025 |540-500382 Senvices 48130305 $43,968 $0 $43,968
Contract
Social
2026 540-500382 Services 48130305 30 $26,873 $26,873
Contract
Social
2027 540-500382 Services 48130305 $0 $27,679 $27,679
Contract
Sublotal $141,545 $54,552 $196,097

05-95-93-930010-51910000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, DIV OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES, SPECIAL

MEDICAL SERVICES
State ) Increased ;
Fiscal S Class Title |Job Number CURER {Decreased) Revised
Account Budget Budget
Year -Amount
2022 |s61-500911 Sgﬁﬁ:z'sty 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
2023 |561-500911 Sgﬁﬁ:i'sty 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
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2024 |561-500011 Sgﬁﬁ:i:" 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
2025 |561-500911 Sgﬁﬁ:i:” 93001000 $30,000 so|  $30.000
' Subtotal]  $120,000 so|  $120,000

05-95-93-930510-36760000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF, HHS: DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, BUR - FAMILY CENTERED SERVICES,
SPECIAL MEDICAL SERVICES

. State Increase/ Revised
Fiscal Class / Budget (Decrease) Budget
Year Account Class Title |Activity Code Amount Amount Amount
2026 | 102-500731 |Contracts forl o4444000 $0 30,0000  $30.000
Prog Svc

2027 | 102-500731 |Contracts forl 43441000 $0 $30,000 $30,000
Prog Svc

Subtotal 30 ~ $60,000 360,000

05-95-93-930010-51910000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, DIV OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES,
PROGRAM SUPPORT

State Class/ -Current Increased Revised
Fiscal AECOUR Class Title |[Job Number Budget (Decreased) Budaet
Year 9 Amount 9
2022 |561-500911 Sgﬁﬁ:i'sty 93005947 $74.788 so]  $74.788
2023 |561-500911 Sgﬁﬁzzgy 93005947 $293 514 so]  $293514
2024 |561-500911 Sgﬁrf:i:y 93005947 |  $302.938 so}  $302,938
2025 [561-500911 Sgﬁf}:ggy 93005947 $312,645 $0 $312,645
Subtotal|  $983,885 so| %983 885
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05-95-93-930010-59470000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS-
DEPT OF, HHS: DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, DIV OF DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS,
PROGRAM SUPPORT

State Increase/ Revised
-Fiscal - Class / Budget (Decrease) Budget
Year Account Class Title |Activity Code|] Amount Amount Amount
Contracts for
2026 102-500731 Prog Sve 93005947 $0 $312,645 $312,645
2027 | 102-500731 |Contractsfor|  gq50c047] $0 $312,645|  $312,645
Prog Svc
Subtotal $0 $625,290 $625,290

05-95-92-920510-19810000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT, HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF DRUG & ALCOHOL SERVICES, SABG

ADDITIONAL
State Increased e
Fiscal iass] Class Title JJob Number Curcent (Decreased) Revised
Account Budget Budget
Year Amount
: Contracts for
2022 |102-500731 Prog Sve 92055902 $77,876 ($30,266) $47,610
2023 [102-500731 | Contractsfor | o50ce902 $231,038 ($16,.908)]  $214,130}
Prog Svc
2024 |102-500731 | Contractsfor b oo hec900 $173.875 (39,044)]  $164,831
Prog Svc
Contracts for
2025 |102-500731 Prog'Sun 92055902 $84,040 {$34,638) $49,402
Subtotal $566,829 ($90,856) $475,973
Total| $9,724,586 $5,508,524| $15,233,110
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State of New Hampshire
_Department of Health and Human Services
Amendment #2

This Amendment to the Clinical and Administrative Services contract is by and between the State of New
v Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services (“State" or "Department”) and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor”}. '

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract”) approved by the Governor and Executive Council

" on March 23, 2022 (Item #10), as amended on June 26, 2024 (Item #12)}, the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified; and,

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, the Contract may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council, and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Provisions, Block 1.7., Completion Date, to read:
June 30, 2027 _

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8., Price Limitation, to read:
$15,233,110

3. Modify Exhibit B — Scope of Services, by deleting and replacing all references to "Service area #4
— Elderly and Adult Services,” to read: '

“Service Area #4 — Adult and Aging Services”

4. Modify Exhibit B — Scope of Services, by deleting and replacing all references to “Bureau of Elderty
and Adult Services (BEAS),” to read:

“Bureau of Aduit and Aging Services (BAAS)”
5. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Subsection 1.3, to read:

1.3.  For the purposes of this agreement, one (1 ) fuli-time equivalent (FTE) is equal to one (1)
full-time employee who works forty (40) hours per week.

6. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Subparagraph 1.8.1.5, to read:

1.8.1.5. The Medical Director shall serve as a member of the Department's Certified Community
Behavioral Health Clinic {CCBHC) implementation and oversight team.

7. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Paragraph 1.8.2, by deleting Subparagraph 1.8.2.6 in its
entirety.

8. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Subparagraphs 1.8.2.1.2.1, 1.8.2.1.2.2, and 1.8.21.23 to
read:

1.8.2.1.2.1 |PS Basic trainings to accommodate new staff will be held no less than 2 x year.
These trainings will be 4-6 hours duration.

1.8.2.1.2.2 |PS job development trainings for new staff will be held no less than 2 x year. These
trainings will be 4-6 hours duration.

1.8.21.2.3 IPS Sdpervisor training will be provided 1 x year. These trainings will be 4-6 hours

in duration.
9. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Subparagraphs 1.8.2.1.3.1, 1.8.2.1.3.2, and 1.8.2.1.3.3 to
read:
Inltlal
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-5-1.3 Contractor Initials l &,‘l
$5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Page 1 of 5 Date_5/30/2025
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

18

16.

1.8.2.1.3.1 ACT Basic trainings to accommodate new staff will be held no less than 2 x year.
These trainings will be 4-6 hours duration.

1.8.2.1.3.2 ACT advanced training will be provided no less than 1 x year. Training will be 4-6
hours in.duration.

1.8.2.1.3.3 ACT Supervisor training will be provided 1 x year. These trainings will be 4-6 hours
in duration.

Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Subparagraph 1.8.3.1.1 to read:

1.8.3.1.1 As needed, the Contractor will securely receive, store, and utilize data from Medicaid
claims files, the Phoenix data system, and other Department data related to service
utilization and quality to assist the Department in program development and program
evaluation. For each instance of data to be shared, the Contractor and the Department
shall complete a Data Sharing Plan that details the minimum necessary data to be
shared, the outcomes, and the protections necessary to complete each project.

Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Paragraph 1.8.5, to read:
1.8.5. RESERVED. )
Maodify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Paragraph 1.9.1.1 to read:

1.9.1.1.  The Contractor shall provide one (1) part-time (0.06 FTE) Medical Director to provide
consultation services to the Bureau of Adult and Aging Services (BAAS) area. The
Medical Director shall;

Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services Paragraph 1.9.1.1.6 to read:

1.9.1.1.6. Meet quarterly with Department designee to review initiatives and check in on
consultation services.

Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Paragraph 1.10.2, Developmental Services Interdisciplinary
Clinic Team, Part 1.10.2.3.1, to read:

1.10.2.3.1. Ensure the Interdisciplinary Clinic Team accepts children and adults up to 26 years
of age referred from Service Coordinators and Area Agencies;

Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Paragraph 1.10.2, Developmental Services Interdisciplinary
Clinic Team, Part 1.10.2.3.6, to read:

1.10.2.3.6. Convene the Adult Interdisciplinary Clinic Team aone {1) time per month and conduct
a face to face or remote appointment with one (1) client per month, for a total of 12
clients per year; and convene the children's Interdisciplinary Team for children and
adults up to 26 years of age every other month and conduct a face to face or remote
appointment with one (1) client every other month, for a total of six (6) clients per
year.

Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1, to read: -

1. This Agreement is funded by:

1.1. 20.13% Federal Funds from:

1.1.1. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services {CMS), Assistance Listing Number
(ALN} 93.778, FAINs 2405NH5ADM and 2505NHSADM; ‘

1.1.2. Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Health
Block Grant, ALN 93.994, FAINs B0452939 and B0454562;

1.1.3. Administration on Aging, Title Ill-B Social Services, ALN 93.004, FAIN
2401NHOASS-04;

Inltial
Mary Hitchcock Memoriat Hosbital A-§-1.3 Contractor Initials [ E l.
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1.1.4. Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), Community
: Mental Health Block Grant, ALN 93.958, FAIN B09SM085371; and

1.1.5. SAMHSA, Substance Abuse Block Grant ARPA, ALN 93.959, FAIN
1B08T1083955.

1.2. 79.87% General funds.
17. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 3, to read:

3. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfilment of this Agreement and shall be in accordance with the approved line items, as
specified in Exhibit C-1, Budget through Exhibit C-13, Budget Sheet - Amendment #2.

3.1.  Services provided in the event of a healthcare system emergency as specified in
Paragraph 1.5.5 of Exhibit B, Scope of Services, are budgeted to serve any or all of the
five (5) service areas. The Contractor shall invoice the Department at the hourly rate
per position, which is inclusive of direct salary and benefits, for the number of hours
worked, not to exceed the Total Price Limitation in Block 1.8 of the Form P-37, General
Provisions. '

18. Modify Exhibit C-4, Budget Sheet by deleting it in its entirety and replacing with Exhibit C-4, Budget
Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

19. Modify Exhibit C-5, Budget Sheet by deleting it in its entirety and replacing with Exhibit C-5, Budget
Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

20. Add Exhibit C-8, Budget Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.

21. Add Exhibit C-9, Budget Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.

22. Add Exhibit C-10, Budget Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.

23. Add Exhibit C-11, Budget Sheet - Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.

24. Add Exhibit C-12, Budget Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
reference herein.

25. Add Exhibit C-13, Budget Sheet — Amendment #2, which is attached hereto and incorporated by
~  reference herein.

Initial
Mary Hitchcock Memoria! Hospital A-§5-1.3 Contractor Initials[ g ! '.

55-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Page 3 of 5 Date 5/30/2025
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective retroactive to March 24, 2025, upon Governor
and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

DocuSigned by:
6/2/2025 ‘ Lon . Weaner
"Date Name: Lors A weaver
Title:

DHHS Commissioner

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

7

5/30/2025

Date ame. Edward Merrens, MD
THE:  hief clinical officer

Mary Hitchcock Memarial Hospital A-5-1.3

§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Page 4 of 5
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

DocuSkgnad by:
6/3/2025 E‘?hnjw Bnrivo

74873484494 1480...
Date Name: Robyn Guarino
Title:  Attorney

| hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: {date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memerial Hospital A-5-1.3

§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Page 50f 5

v.7.12.23 '
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Exhibit C-4 Budget Sheet - Amendment #2 {Behavioral Health - Co-Occurring Trainer)

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memonal Hospital

Clinical and Administrative Services - Service Area #3 Behavioral Health (Co-occurring Trainer)

Budget Request for:
Budget Period SFY22 through SFY25
JoshlRograny Sost 'SFY22 SFY23 SFY24 SFY25
Line Item Enter aif costs that will be incurred through this e i T -
¢ contract/agreement
1. Salary/Wages 5 304,974 25,466 84,405 76,681 65.237
2. Employee Benefits $ 104,911 8,739 29,006 24,308 20,680
3. Consultants [3 -
4.{a) Equipment - Rental $ -
4.(b) Equipment - Repairs & Maintenance $ -
4.(c) Equipment - Purchase 3
5.(a) Supplies - Educational $17121 1,667 5,000 110 0
5.(b} Supplies - Lab 3
5.(c) Supplies - Pharmacy 5
5.(d} Supplies - Medical $ -
5.(e} Supplies Office $
6. Travel $ 25,000 2,500 7.500 7.137 0
7. Occupancy $
9. Software 5 -
10. Marketing/Communications 3 -
11. Staff Education and Training $ 19,000 1,000/ 8,000 6,000 0
12. Subcontracis/Agreements s -
13. Other {Provide specific details) $ -
Tota) Direct Costs $ 471,006 $ 39,372 $131.811] $114,236 $ 85,917
Indirect Cost Rate % 15%
Total Indirect Costs $ 70,651 5,905 19,786 17,135 12,887
TOTAL 541,657 45,277 151,697 131,371 98,804
Invitiad
Exhibit C-4 Budget - Amendment #2
§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINID1-AD2 Contractor Initigts
Mary Hitchoock Memorial Hospital
Page 1 0of 1 Date 5/30/2025
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Exhibit C-5 Budget Sheet - Amendment #2 (Behavioral Health - Crisis System Evaluator)

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Budget Request for: Clinical and Administrative Services - Service Area #3 Behavioral Health - Crisis Systam Evaluator
Budget Period: SFY22 thmugh SFy25 ’
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 13.37%
- Line It Program Cost - Funded] Program Cost - Funded ‘Progran-_i Cost - Funded by |Program Cost - Funded by DHHS,
ne ltem by DHHS - SFY 22 by DHHS - SFY 23 .~ DHHS - SFY 24 = -SFY 25
1. Salary & Wages $11,294 $19,194 $23,965 $10,492
2. Fringe Benefits $3,886 $6,508 $5,243 $3,257
3. Consultants $0 50 $21,740 $118,276
4. Equipment ¢
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to equipment costs per 2 50 30 $0 80
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200. :
5.(a) Supplies - Educational 30 $0 $0 $0
5.(b) Supplies - Lab 50 $0 50 $0
5.(¢) Supplies - Pharmacy 50 $0 50 $0
5.(d) Supplies - Medical 50 $0 $0 $0
5.(e) Supplies - Office 50, 30 50 50
6.  Travel $0 $0 $0 50
7. Software $0 $0 $0 $0
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications 30 30 50 $0
8. (b) Other - Education and Training $0 $0 0 ; $0
8. (c) Other - Other (specify below) 30 30 0 i)
Other (please specily) 50 $0 b0 L0
CQther (please specify) 50 $0 $0 $0
Other (please specily) 30 $0 $0 $0
Other (please spacify) 50 $0 50 50
Other (please specify) $0 $0 $0 %0
Other (pleasa specify) 30 $0 $0 $0
Other (pleasa spscify) $0 $0 %0 $0
9. Subrecipient Contracts $44.404 $264,532 $182 185 $118,276
Total Direct Costs ] $59 584 $290,234 $236,133 $250,301
Total Indirect Costs $6,027 $43,535 $31,670 $19,803
Subtotals 565,611 $333,769 $267,803 $270,104
TOTAL| $ 937,287

$8-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02

Inigal

Contractor Initials: L .

oate5/30/2025
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Exhibit C-8 Budget - Amendmaent #2

55-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Contractor Name: Dartmouth Hitchcock p

Budget Request for: Medicaid H

B’udget Period: SFY26 fhmugh SFY27 U

Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15.00%
Program Cost - Funded 71-:y ‘| Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by
Line item
DHHS - SFY 2026 DHHS - SFY 2027 DHHS - SFY 2028 DHHS - SFY 2029
1. Salary & Wages $347,782 $358,215 $0 $0
2. Fringe Benefits $63,992 $65 912 $0 30
3. Consultants $0 50 $0 $0
4,  Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to equipment costs per 2 $0 $0 - %0 $0,
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200. L
5.(a) Supplies - Educational $0 $0 $0 £0
5.(b) Supplies - Lab $0 $0 50 $0
5.(c) Supplies - Pharmacy 50 $0 50 $0
5.(d) Supplies - Medical 30 30 $0 $0
5.(e) Supplies - Office $0 $0 30 30
6. Travel $2,500 $2,500 0 $0
7. Soitware $0 30 0 50
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications $0 $0 30, 0
8. (b) Other - Education and Training $9,000 $9,000 $0 0
B. {c) Other - Other {specify below) $0 $0 $0 50
Other {please specily} $0 $0 $0 30
Other (please specify) 30 30 $0 $0
Other {plaase specify) $0) 30 $0 $0
Other (please specify) 30 0 30 $0
Other (please specify) 30 50 $0 50
Other (plaase speciy) $0 $0 $0 $0
Cther {please specify) 50 30 50 $0
9. Subrecipient Contracts $0 . %0 $0 $0
Total Direct Costs $423,274 $435627 $0 30
Total Indirect Costs $63,491 $65,344 $0 $0
Subtotals $486,765 $500,971 $0 $0
TOTAL] $987,736
wltlal

Contractor Initials: I‘

bate: 5/30/2025
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Exhibit C-9 Budget - Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Namae: Dantmouth Hitchcock
Budget Request for: Children, Youth and Families
Budget Period: SFY26 through SFY27
Indirect Cost Rate {if applicabla) 15.00%
Line Ite Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by Program Cést - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by
.o DHHS - SFY 2026 DHHS - SFY 2027 DHHS - SFY 2028 DHHS - SFY 2029
1. _Salary & Wages $849,901 $875,398 50 . $0
2. Fringe Benefits $238,447 $245,601 $0 $0
3. Consulants . $0 50 $0 $0
4,  Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied 1o equipment costs per 2 $0 50 $0 $0
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200.
5.(a) Supples - Educationa! $0 $0 30 $0
5.(b) Supplies - Lab : $0 $0 30 £0
5.(c) Supplies - Pharmacy $0 $0 $0 50
5.(d) _Supphes - Medical 50 $0 $0 50
5.{e} Supplies - Office $0 $0 $0 ‘0
6. Travel £3,000 $3,000 0 50
7. Software $0 $0 0 0
8. (3) Other - Marketing/Communications 1 $0 $0 30 50
8. {b) Other - Education and Training ' $12,000 $12,000 $0 $0
8. (c) Other - Other (specify below) $0 30 30 %0
Uther (plaass specify) 50 " $0 $0 , $0
Other {please specify) : $0 $0 $0 $0
Cther (please specify) S0 $0 50 $0
Cther (please specify) ) $0 50 $0 $0
“Other {plaase specify) i $0 $0 $0 $0
Other (ploase specify) 50 $0 50 30
Other (please specily) $0 $0 $0 $0
9. Subrecipient Contracts 50 $0 50 $0
Total Direct Costs $1,103,349 $1,135,999 $0 $0
Total Indirect Costs $165,502 $170,400 $0 $0
Subtotals $1,268.851 $1,306,399 $0 30
TOTAL} § 2,575,250
Initial

Contractor Initials:

55-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Date: 5/30/2025
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Exhibit C-10 Budget - Amandment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Namae: Dartmouth Hitchcock
. Budget Request for: 8MHS
Budget Period: SFY26 through SFY27
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15.00%
Line Item Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost - Funded by
DHHS - 5FY 2026 DHHS - SFY 2027 DHHS - SFY 2028 DHHS - SFY 2029
iy a8 :
1. Salary & Wages $440,762 $453,985 $0 %0
2. _Fringe Benefits $120,898 $124,525 $0 $0
3. Consultants $0 $0 $0 $0
4, Equipment ;
Indirect cost rate cannot be apptied to equipment costs per 2 30 $0 $0 $0
CFR 200.1 and Appendix [V to 2 CFR 200.
5.{a} Supplies - Educational $10,965 $11,294 $0/ %0
5.(b) Supplies - Lab 30 30 50 50
5.(c) Suppties - Pharmacy 30 50 50 50
5.(d) Supplies - Medical $0 30 £0 $0
5.(e) Supplies - Office $0 £0 $0 $0
6, Travel $25,065 $25,066, 30 0
7. Software £0 B0 0 0
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications $0 b0 0 0
8. (b) Other - Education and Training $6,000 $6,000 b0 $0
8. (c) Other - Other (specify below) 30 $0 $0 $0
Other (pleasa specily) 0 $0 30 - %0
Other (pleasa speacify) ; %0 50 $0 30
Other {please specily] 0 0 $0 $0
Other {please specify) < 30 $0 $0 $0
Qther (please specify} $0 $0 $0 $0
Othar (please specify} - | 50 $0 $0 £0
Other (please speacify} $0 $0 $0 $0
9. Subrecipient Contracts $0 $0 30 $0
Total Direct Costs $603,690 $620,870 $0 $0
Total Indirect Costs $90,554 $93,131 $0 . $0
Subtotals $694,244 $714,001 $0 $0
TOTAL] $1,408,245
Initial

Contractor Initials:

$5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 . Date: 2/30/2025
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Exhibit C-11 Budget - Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Name: Dartmouth Hitchcock
Budget Request for: DLTSS-Adult & Aging Services I
Budget Period: SFY26 & SFY27
Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15.00%
.
Line.tt Program Cost - Funded by Program Cost -'Funded by Program Cost - Funded by; Program Cost - Funded by
ne.fiem DHHS - SFY 2026 DHHS - SFY 2027 DHHS - SFY 2028 . DHHS - SFY 2029
(]
1. Salary & Wages $19,736 $20,328 $0 50
2. Fringe Benefits $3,631 $3,740 $0 $0
3. Consultants : $0 $0 $0 i $0
4. Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to equipment costs per 2 $0 $0 50 $0
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200,
5.(a) Supplies - Educational 30 $0 $0 $0
5.(b) Suppiies - Lab $0 $0 $0 : $0|
5.(c} Supplies - Pharmacy 30 30 50 ¥ $0/
5.(d) _Supplies - Medical $0 $0 $0 $0
5.(e} Supplies - Office 30 $0 $0 50/
6. Travel $0 $0 $0 $0
7. Software 30 $0 $0 $0
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Cormnmunications 30 $0 50 $0
8. (b} Other - Education and Training $0 0 $0 30
8. (c) Other - Other {specify below} 30 0 50 b0
Other (please specily) 30 b0 £0 20
Other {pleass specify) $0 $0 .80 $0
Other (please specily) 30 . $0 $0 $0
Other (please specify) 30 50 $0 50
Other (please specify) $0 $0 $0 80
Other (please specify) %0 $0 S0 50
Other (please specify) $0 $0 $0 $0
9. Subrecdipient Contracts 30 $0 $0 $0
Total Direct Costs $23,368 5§24 069 $0| - $0
Total Indirect Costs $3,505 $3,610 ; 30 30
Subtotals $26,873 $27,679 30 ‘ $0
TOTAL] $54,552

Initial

Contractor Initials:

§5-2022-OCOM-02-CLINI-01-A02 _ Date: 3/30/2025
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Exhibit C-12 Budget - Amendment #2 -

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Name: Dartmouth Hitchcock
Budget Request for: Developmental Services, SMS
Budget Period: SFY26 through SFY27

Average Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15%

Line item

Program Cost
Funded by
DHHS - SFY
2026

Program Cost
Funded by
DHHS - SFY
2027

Program Cost
Funded by
DHHS - SFY
2028

Program Cost
Funded by
DHHS - SFY
2029

1. Salary & Wages

$22,033

$22,033

2. _Fringe Benefits

$4,054

$4,054

3. Consultants

4. Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannot be applied to equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200.

5.{a) Supplies - Educational

5.(b) Supplies - Lab

5.(c} Supplies - Pharmacy

5.(d) Supplies - Medical

5.(e) Supplies - Office

6. Travel

7. Software

8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications

8. (b) Other - Education and Training

8. (¢} Other - Other {specify below)

Other (please specify)

Other (please specify)

Other (please specify)

Other {please spocify}

. Other (please specify)

Other (please specify)

Other (please specify)

8. Subrecipient Contracts

Total Direct Costs

$26,087

$26,087

$0

$0

Total Indirect Costs

$3.913

33913

15.00%

15.00%

#DIV/0!

#DIV/O!

Subtotals

$30,000

$30,000

50

$0

TOTAL

$60,000

§8-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02

Page 1 of 1

Initlal
Contractor lnitials‘ % l ]

Date 6/4/2025
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Exhibit C-13 Budget - Amendment #2

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Name: Dartmouth Hilchcock
Budget Request for: Developmental Services, Program Support
Budget Period: SFY26 through SFY27
Average Indirect Cost Rate (if applicable) 15%
Program Cost {Program Cost {Program Cost {Program Cost
Line Item Funded by Funded by Funded by Funded by
n DHHS - SFY | DHHS - SFY | DHHS - SFY | DHHS - SFY
2026 2027 2028 2029
1. Salary & Wages $225,145 $225,145
2. Fringe Benefits $46,720 $46,720
3. Consultants
4, Equipment
Indirect cost rale cannot be appiied to equipment costs per 2 CFR 200.1 and
Appendlx IV to 2 CFR 200.
5.(a) Supplies - Educational
5.(b) Supplies - Lab
5.(c} Supplies - Pharmacy
5.(d) Supplies - Medical
5.(e) Supplies - Office
6. Travel
7. Software
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications
B. (b} Other - Education and Training
8. {c) Other - Other (specify below)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
Other (please specify)
8. Subrecipient Contracts
Total Direct Costs $271,865 $271,865 $0 $0
Total Indirect Costs{ . $40,780 $40,780
15.00% 15.00% #DIVIQ! RDIVID!
Subtotals $312,645 $312,645 $0 $0
TOTAL $625,290

Initial
Conlractorlnitials' E ! I

$8-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A02 Page 1 of 1 Date 8/4/2025
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State of New Hampshire
Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan. Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire. do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL
HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07. 1889. 1
further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of Stale’s office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this officc is concerned,

Business 1D: 68517
Certificate Number: 0007142928

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,
1 hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed
the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this st day of April A.D. 2025.

David M, Scanlan -

Secretary of State
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; Dartmouth Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees
Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Hines, MD, do hereby certify that:

1. Tam the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, “Dartmouth-Hitchcock”).
2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations: -

a. “ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets. As
responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of* the Corporations’
Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
Corporations’ assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population -
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation’s Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes.”

3. Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws

' provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter
. into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital.

4. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or
action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from
the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written
notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has been received by the State

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 14th day of May, 2025.

forr il

Robertd L. Hines, MD, Board Chair
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DATE: July 1 2024

COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE
Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687 :
30 Main Street, Suite 330

Burlington, VT (5401

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Hotdér. This

INSURED

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03756
(603)653-6850

Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage-
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES

have been reduced by paid claims.

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may

TYPE OF POLICY POLICY
R RNGE POLICY NUMBER EFFECTIVE EXPIRATION LIMITS
DATE DATE
GENERAL 0002024-A 7/1/2024 71172025 EACH $1,000,000
LIABILITY PECTIRRENGE
DAMAGE TO $1,000,000
RENTED
PREMISES
MEDICAL
X CLAIMS MADE EXPENQES RIA
PERSONAL & $1,000,000
ADV INJURY
OCCURRENCE GENERAL $3,000,000
AGGREGATE
OTHER PRODUCTS- - $1,000,000
COMP/OP AGG
0002024-A 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 EACH CLAIM- | §1,000,000
PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY
X CLAIMS MADE ANNUAL $3,000,000
AGGREGATE
OCCURENCE
OTHER

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL ITEMS (LEMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cencelled before the expiration date
thereol, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but fatlure to mait such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability of ny kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

UL
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- | DARTHIT-01 LSTILES
ACORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE " aihiz0zs

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

IMPORTANT:

If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy{les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

“If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

prooucer License # 1780862

GRNTACT Lauren Stiles

PHONE FAX
g_}lsﬂulgt;m‘att;onal New England P o, Ext: | FAR. Noj:
Cumberland Foreside, ME 04110 | §24kqs. Lauren.Stiles@hubinternational.com
INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NASC #
msurer A : The Gray Insurance Company 36307
INSURED nsurer B : Midwest Employers Casualty Company 23612
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health INSURER € :
1 Medical Center Dr, INSURER D :
Lebanon, NH 03756
INSURER E ;
INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:

REVISION NUMBER;

THIS 1S TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABQVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WATH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDEDC BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR ADDL[SUBR|
INSD | WVD.

POLICY EFF

LIR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER _[ﬁgh')%m LIMITS
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE $
CLAIMS-MADE D OCCUR DAMAGE TO RENTED .
MED EXP (Anyona parson} | §
PERSONAL & ADV INJURY [ §
GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE s
o | )5BS Loc PRODUCTS - COMPIOP AGG | §
QTHER: ! $
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY e oLELMT |
B
ANY AUTO BODALY INJURY {Perperson) | $
OWNED SCHEDULED
AUTOS ONLY AUTOS BODILY INJURY (Per accicent}| $
PROPERTY DAMAGE
| ﬂﬁ?s ONLY RSF&%‘HZ‘&? _(Ff!efﬂfﬂ) 5
$
UMBRELLAUAB [ | OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE $
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE s
DED l ] RETENTION § s
A RSy X[ | 28
Y
ANY PROPRIE TOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE SPX0702544 712024 | TNI025 | ¢\ eachaccioenT 5 500,000
ﬁﬁncsmquﬁﬁn EXCLUDED? NIiA 500,000
E.L DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE § .
o3, describe 500,000
D SCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS balow E.L DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT { §
B |Excess Workers' Comp EWC010235 7/112024 | 7/1/2026 [NH Only 1,000,000

Evidence of Workers Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Madical Centaer

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Alice Pack Day Memorial Hospital

New London Hospital Association

Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire

DESCRIPTION OF QPERATIONS [ LOCATIONS f VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schaduls, may be attached if more space is required)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER :

CANCELLATION

NH DHHS
129 Pleasant Stroot
Concord, NH 03301

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

hesdo oy

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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E 5 Dartmouth " Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center
1]

P Health Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics

T1l]
1100
T

About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth
Hitchcock Clinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health
(https://www.dartmouth-health.org)—include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the’state‘s
only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary
and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont,

Qur physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and
faculty as well as other leading healthcare organizations to develop-new treatments at the
cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Who are Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock
Clinics?

Darimouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center and the
only Level | Adult and Level Il Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth
Hitchcock Advanced Response Team (DHART], based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides
ground and air medical transportation td-communities throughout northern New England.
In 2024, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center was named New Hampshire's best hospital
in the U.S. News & World Report Best Hospitals 2024-25 (https://health.usnews.com/best-
hospitals/area/nh/dartmouth-hitchcock-medical-center-6120170) rankings, recognized as high-
performing in 11 common adult procedures and conditions. We also are recognized for
high-performing Maternity Care/Uncomplicated Pregnancy, which was part of the Best
Maternity Hospitals survey.
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Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout New
Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices in Lebanon, Concord, -
Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New Hampshire, and Bennington, Vermont.

" Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children’s Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center (https://childrens.dartmouth-
health.org/locations-directions/lebanon-region} is New Hampshire's only children's hospital and a
member of the Children’s Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric inpatient,
oufpatient and surgical services at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center.

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon {https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/locations-
directions/norris-cotton-cancer-care-pavilion-lebanon), one of only 57 NCI-designated
Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier facilities for cancer
treatment, research, preVention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission



Docusign Envelope ID: AJA13EED-CB55-43A1-A1AD-BEDF2EG88BEA

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every
time. '

Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our
region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

. Réspect

¢ Integrity

¢« Commitment
e Transparency
e Trust

¢« Teamwork

« Stewardship

e Community

Copyright © 2025 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics. All rights reserved.

Also of interest

Learn About Clinicat Trials & Research thitps-iwwa dartmouih-hitcheock orgirasea chilearn-abous-clinical-trials - researchl
Darimouth Hitchcock Medical Center and... intps:/iwwy dartmouth-hitche ok, erglabout/historyl

Collaborations thitps./swww.dartmouth-hitchcock.orgfaboutsotaberations)
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and subsidiaries
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
(d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and its subsidiaries (the Dartmouth Health System), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets and of cash flows for the years then ended, including the related
notes (collectively referred to as the "Consolidated Financial Statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth Health as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Dartmouth Health System and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropnate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, management is required to evaluate whether there
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Dartmouth
Health System's ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the Consolidated
Financial Statements are issued.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would"
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

I PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements. -

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Dartmouth Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Dartmouth Health System's ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit. i

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Consolidated Financial
Statements taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating
statements of operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (the “supplemental information™) is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The
consolidating information is not intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the individual companies. The supplemental
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements. The
supplemental information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements or to the Consolidated Financial Statements
themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly stated,
in all material respects, in relation to the Consolidated Financial Statements taken as a whole.

M@M

Boston, Massachusetts
October 31, 2024
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2024 and 2023

(in thousands of dollars) 2024 . 2023
Assets
Current assets ,
Cash and cash equivalents - b 257903 § 115,996
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) 287,317 289,787
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 186,729 184,104
Total current assets 731,949 589,887
Assels limited as 1o use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,234,156 1,071,462
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 229,626 182,224
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 921,320 811,622
Right-of-use assets, net (Note 16} 53,103 55,528
Other assets 251,713 193,333
Total assets $ 3421867 § 2,904,056

Liabilitles and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $ 22426 % 15,236
Current portion of right-of-use obligations (Note 16) 10,142 11,334
Line of credit (Note 13) \ 41,950 40,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 138,466 146,747
" Accrued compensation and related benefits 168,855 140,853
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4) 82,668 64,360
Total current liabilities 464,507 418,530
Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 1'0) 1,199,925 1,098,962
Right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion {Note 16) 45 807 45,671
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 98,397 91,349
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits, i
excluding current portion (Note 11) 211,760 206,305
Other liabilities 199,091 173,918
Total liabilities ' 2,219,487 2,034,735
Commitments and conlingencies (Notes 3, 4, 6, 7, 10, 13, and 16)
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 923,697 " 658,988
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 278,683 210,333
Total net assets - 1,202,380 869,321
Total liabilities and net assets 3 3421867 % 2,904,056

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Net patient service revenue (Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue {Note 4)

Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits

Medications and medical supplies

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement and provider tax (Note 4)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 7)

Interest (Note 10)

Total operating expenses
Operating gain (loss)

- Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment gains, net (Note 5)
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14)
Other losses, net
Pension termination settlement charge (Note 12)
Contribution from acquisition {Note 3)

Total non-operating gains, net

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses

2024 2023
$ 2,791,314 2,397,157
20,721 84,346
780,986 608,875
18,126 14,843
3,611,147 3,105,221
1,581,480 1,423,091
391,708 332,386
841,277 725,480
521,219 458,901
102,727 85,715
89,985 90,457
40,869 34,515
3,569,265 3,150,545
41,882 (45,324)
124,724 58,119
(22,702) (17,691)
(22,088) (8,530)

(13,287) :

129,689 ,
196,336 31,898
$ 238218 (13,426)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets — continues on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financiat Statements.

4
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

{in thousands of dollars) _ 2024 023

Net assets without donor restrictions

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ 238218 % {13,426)

Net assets released from restrictions for capital 15,150 3,229

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement

benefits (Note 11) | 11,393 34,901

Other changes in net assets (52) (13)
Increase in net assets without donor restrictions 264,709 24,691

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 63,289 23,637
Investment gains, net - 14,287 5,846
Net assets released from restrictions {33,980) {18,653}
Contribution of assets with donor restrictions acquisition (Note 3) 24,754 -
tncrease in net assets with donor restrictions 68,350 10,830
Change in net assets 333,059 35,521
Net assets
Beginning of year 869,321 833,800
End of year 3 1,202,380 % 869,321

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

5
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

{in thousands of doliars) 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Change i net assels ] 333059 S 35,521
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 1o -
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Effects of acquisition {154,443) -
Depraciation and amorization 90,601 20,806
Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net {2,745) (2.779)
Amortization of right-of-use asset ’ 8,830 9,242
Payments on right-of-use leasa obligations -.operating (8,48%) (9,182)
Change in funded status of pension and other posiretirement benefits (11.383) (34,001)
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets 2,212 {B83)
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on invesiments {138,812) {79,799)
Restricted contributions and investment eamings (21,445) {8.208)
Proceeds from sales of donated securities " 9,715 3818
Changes in assets and liabiities, exckuding the effects of acquisition
Patient accounts receivable, net 19,588 {38,537}
Prepaid expenses and other curent assels 57 1,084
Other assets, net (43,375} (21,688)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses {10,788} (31,082}
Accrued compensation and related benefits 19,422 {53,093}
Estimated third-party setilements 14,470 (71,007)
Insurance deposits and reialed liabilities 7,048 12,958
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 16,848 12,486
Oriher liabilities 17,492 - 21,191
Net cash provided by (used in} operaling aclivities 147,843 {164,033}
Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (132,454) (129.321)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 20 1,214
Purchases of investments (19,841) (71,410}
Proceeds from maturities and sales of invesiments 52,608 249,684
Cash received through acquisition 5,794 -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (93,675) 50,167
Cash flows from financing actlvities
Proceeds from line of credit 1,583,500 879,500
Payments on line of credit * {1,595,250) (938,500)
Repayment of long-term debt {17.206) {81,907)
Proceeds from issuance of debl 100,137 75,000
Repayment of finance leases (4,635) {3,599)
Payment of dett issuance costs (189) -
Restricted contributions and investment eamings 21,449 8,208
Nel cash provided by (used in) financing aclivities 87,806 37,702
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 141,979 {78,184)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 117,321 193,485
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . $ 250300 8 112,321
Supplemental cash flow information
Interes! paid $ 49,133 § 44,362
Consiruction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 11,315 5,105
Donated securities 9715 3818

The following table reconciles cash and cash equivalenis on the Consolidated Balance Sheets lo cash, cash equivalents and restricled
cash on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents ' H 257,903 § 115,996
Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in other investments for restricted activities 1,307 1,325
Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown
in the consolidated statements of cash flows $ 250,300 § 117,321

The accompanying notes are an integra! part of thése Consolidated Financial Statements.

6
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and 2023

1. 'Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health), its members, and their Subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Dartmouth Health System™) is a system of hospitals, clinics, and
other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). The Dartmouth
Health System advances health through research, education, clinical practice, and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every time.
The Dartmouth Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the
transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The Dartmouth
Health System'’s expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth Health serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities: Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospita! (MHMH) and
Subsidiaries, (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospitai
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation {d/b/a Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, Visiting Nurse Association and Hospice
of Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries, and Southwestern Vermont Health Care
Corporation and Subsidiaries (SVHC). SVHC became a subsidiary of Dartmouth Health on July 3,
2023,

The Dartmouth Health System currently operates one tertiary, cne community, and three acute
care (critical access) hospitals in NH and VT. One facility provides inpatient and outpatient
-rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Dartmouth Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a2 home health and hospice
service. The Dartmouth Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel Schoo! of Medicine {Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

Dartmouth Health, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations
exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c}{3) of the Internal Revenue Code {IRC).
MAHHC, VNH, and SVHC are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes
under Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC.

Community Benefits

The Dartmouth Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive, and integrated
healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a patient's ability to
pay. The Dartmouth Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and promotes
the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services organizations. In
addition, the Dartmouth Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area healthcare
providers to improve the health status of the region. Certain members of the Dartmouth Health
System provide significant support for academic and research programs, as components of an
integrated academic medical center. '
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. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and
‘Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2024 and 2023

Certain member hospitals of the Dartmouth Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports
with the State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT
hospitals are not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in
the Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients is the unreimbursed cost of providing
care to Medicaid patients by the System. The System uses filed Community Benefits Reports,
where available, and also tax filings, where necessary, to calculate this amount. The 2024
Community Benefits Reports are expected to be'filed in February 2025.

Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and ather health care professionals ‘

Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Dartmouth Health System, resulting
in financial losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available
unless the responsibility was assumed by the government.

Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
qualifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enroliment assistance in public- programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telephone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, efc.).

Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Dartmouth Health System.

Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and 2023

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined for the year
ended June 30, 2023:

(in thousands of dolfars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid $ 209,213
Health professional education 44 268
Subsidized health services 26,617
Charity care 15,719
Community health improvement services 14,567
Research 18,796
Cash and in-kind contributions 4,320
Community building activities 3,493

Total community benefit value $ 334,993

In fiscal years 2024 and 2023, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $365,000 and $439,000, respectively.

In fiscal years 2024 and 2023, Medicaid and Medicare costs exceeding reimbursement totaled
$916,423,000, and $797,604,000, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities are
classified based on the existence or absence of donor-impdsed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets
without donor restrictions are amounts not subject te donor-imposed stipulations and are available
for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited by donors
to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be maintained
in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities, at the dates of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that
are affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates. '
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and

Subsidiaries.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and 2023

Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenue over Expenses )

The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the
excess/{deficiency) of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items
attributable to the care of patients, including contributions and investment income (loss) on
investments of net assets without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other
operational support. Peripheral activities, including realized gains/losses on sales of investment
securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating
gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without denor restrictions which are excluded from the excess/(deficiency)
of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans. )

Charity Care

The Dartmouth Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their
financial assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates.
Because the Dartmouth Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as
charity care, they are not reported as revenue. '

The Dartmouth Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents
and are insured under third-party arrangements. The charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Dartmouth Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of

consideration t¢ which the Dartmouth Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third .
party payors, and others, for services rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under

reimbursement agreements with third-party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive

adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and

adjusted in future pericds as estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Dartmouth Health System has various Professiona! Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to
which certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Dartmouth Health
System and also lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility
and equipment leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted
_revenue in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue :

The Dartmouth Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical
care but is central to the day-to-day operations of the Dartmouth Health System. Other revenue,
which consists primarily of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract

10
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and
Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

June 30, 2024 and 2023

pharmacy, is recorded in the amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the

prescriptions. Other revenue also includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act .
(CARES Act) Provider Relief Funds from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS},

CARES Act Employee Retention Credit Funds, Federal Emergency Management Agency

assistance, grant revenue, cafeteria sales, and other support service revenue (Note 4).

Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the -fair .value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the
Dartmouth Health System’s endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash
equivalents, are classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and
cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,

Investments and Investment Income (Loss)

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmentat
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Dartmouth Health System owns shares or units of funds rather
than the underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with
changes in value recorded in the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Dartmouth Health System are partners in a NH general partnership
established for the purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment
accounts. Substantially all of the Dartmouth Health System’'s board-designated and assets with
donor restrictions, such as endowment funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing
units based on the market value of the pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any
new additions to the funds. Interest, dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses
earned on pooled funds are allocated monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at
the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

1
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Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Dartmouth Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements} and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Valus
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices-in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant te the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, and
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Dartmouth Health System’s
policy is to capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance
and repair expenditures which do -not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for
depreciation has been determined using the straight-line method, at rates which are intended to
amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives range from 10
to 40 years for buildings and improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of; the
lease term or 5 to 12 years, for leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are
amortized using the straight-line method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred
on borrowed funds during the period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component
of the cost of acquiring those assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the Consoclidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assels using the straight-line
method, which approximates the effective interest method.

12



- Docusign Envelope ID: 51352C3F-0591-4508-8335-6EE81171ECDS

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (d/b/a Dartmouth Health) and
Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2024 and 2023

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Darimouth Health System records goodwill and intangible assets, such as trade names and
leases-in-place, within other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Dartmouth Health
System considers goodwill and trade names to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least
annually for impairment, or more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant, and
recognizes impairment charges for amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values.
The Dartmouth Health System has recorded $10,509,000 and $8,367,000 as intangible assets as
of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. '

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded as operating income. Conditional promises to give and
indications of intentions to give to the Dartmouth Health System are reported at fair value at the
date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are received with donor
stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when
a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor
restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as net assets released from
“restrictions.

3. Acquisitions

Effective July 3, 2023, SVHC became an affiliate of the Dartmouth Health System when Dartmouth
Health became the sole corporate member of SVHC through an affiliation agreement. SVHC is a
not-for-profit corporation providing a continuum of patient care services to residents of
southwestern Vermont, northwestern Massachusetts, and parts of New York. SVHC has a fiscal
year end of September 30. )

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, The
Dartmouth Health System recorded contribution income of approximately $154,443,000, reflecting
the fair value of the contributed net assets of SVHC as of the transaction date. Of this amount,
$129,689,000, representing total net assets less donor-restricted net assets, is included as
nonoperating gains in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets. Donor restricted net assets totaling $24,754,000 were recorded within donor restricted
net assets in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets. No consideration was exchanged for the net assets contributed, and acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred.

The fair value of assets, liabilities, and net assets contributed by SVHC at July 3, 2023 were as
follows:
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{in thousands of dollars)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5794
Patient accounts receivable, net 17,118
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,129
Property, plant, and equipment, net 70,946
Assets limited as to use : 92,856
Cther assets . 38724
Total-assets acquired $ 234,567
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 15173
Accrued compensation and related benefits 8,580
Line of credit 13,700
Long-term debt 28,156
Estimated third-party settlements 3838
Other liabilities 10,677
Total liabilities assumed 80,124
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions 129,689
With donor restrictions 24,754
Total net assets 154,443
Total liabilities and net assets $ 234567

A summary of the financial results of SVHC included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations
and Changes in Net Assets for the pericd from the date of acquisition, July 3, 2023, through June
30, 2024 is as follows:

{in thousands of doflars)

Total operating revenues $ 216,946
Total operating expenses 219,902
Operating loss (2,956)
Nonoperating gains 7,020
Excess of expenses over revenue 4,064
Net assets released from restriction used for capital purposes 5,083
Net assets transferred from affiliate 129,689
Increase in net assets - 3 136,836
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A summary of the consolidated financial results of the Dartmouth Health System for the years
ended 2023, as if the transactions had occurred on July 1, 2022, are as follows (unaudited):

{in thousands of dollars)

Total operating revenues $ 3,308,114
Total operating expenses 3,359,808
Operating loss {51,694} '
Nonoperating gains - 38,970
Deficiency of revenues over expenses {12,724)
" Net assets released from restriction used for capital purchases 7,644
Change in funded status of pension and other
post retirement benefits 33,535
Change in fair value on interest rate swaps {13)
increase in net assets without donor restrictions 3 28,442
4, Net Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Dartmouth Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These
amounts are due from patients, third-party payors (including managed care payors and government
programs), and others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments
due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Dartmouth Health System
bills patients and third-party payors several days after the services were performed or shortly after
discharge. Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts, -by
providing heatthcare services to patients.

The Dartmouth Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the
services provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based
on actual charges incurred, in relation to total expected charges, as this method provides a
reasonable estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on
inputs needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time
relate to patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance
obligations are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required
for the patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician
services, performance cbligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided
and no further patient services are deemed necessary. '

Generally, the Dartmouth Health System’s patient service performance obligations relate to
contracts with a duration of less than one year, therefore the Dartmouth Health System has elected
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to apply the optional exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, as such, we are not required
to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that
are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to
inpatient services at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these
contracts are generally completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within
days or weeks of the end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they .are not displayed in the Dartmouth Health System's Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Changes in Net Assets.

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies‘or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions

Revenves for the Dartmouth Health System under the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and
Medicaid programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

. Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare outpatient
services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined amount for
each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Dartmouth Health
System’s payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are
based on PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

. Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

. Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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. Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective -settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

. The Dartmouth Health System's cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are
reimbursed during the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final
settlement is determined after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of
this report by Medicare and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review.
Because the laws, regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid
reimbursement are complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change
over time by material amounts.

. Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments, in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Dartmouth Health System is not aware of any claims, disputés, or unsettled matters with any
payor, that would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately provided in the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Dartmouth Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for
healthcare services they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive
partial or full adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Dartmouth Health System’s policy
is to treat amounts qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, they are not
reported in net patient service revenue.

For fiscal year 2023, VT imposed a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25%
of annual net patient revenue, as determined by the State of VT. As of July 1, 2023, the tax was
sunset in the Vermont legislation. Accordingly, in fiscal years 2024 and 2023, home health provider
taxes paid were $0 and $579,000, respectively. -

Implicit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payor contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Dartmouth Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers
those patients a discount from standard charges. The Dartmouth Health System estimates the
transaction price for patients with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are
uninsured, based on historical coliection experience and current market conditions. The discount
offered to uninsured patients reduces the transaction price at the time of biiling. The uninsured and
patient responsible accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price
concessions based on historical collection trends for'similar accounts and other known factors that
impact the estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are
generally recorded as adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.
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The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Dartmouth Health System expects to
collect, based on collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Dartmouth
Health System’s policy is to attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-
insurance, and deductibles due from insurance at the time of service while complying with all
federal and state statutes and regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical
Treatment and Active Labor Act (EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the
Dartmouth Health System estimates Medicare and Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost
report settlements and accrues final expected settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is
recorded based on those filings, subsequent activity, and on historical trends and other relevant
evidence. For periods in which a cost report is yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of
what is expected to be reported, and any trends and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally
must be filed within five months of the closing period. '

Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
seftlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payor,
correspondence from the payor, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations.

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, additional increases in revenue of $6,694,000 and
$24,098,000, respectively, were recognized, due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients

covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans, as well as patients covered
under the Dartmouth Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Dartmouth Health System’s sources of total operating revenue and
other support presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

) 2024
(in thousands of dollars) PPS CAH Total
Hospital
Medicare $ 655002 $ 113,586 3 768,678
Medicaid 189,864 25,680 215,544
Commercial 1,199,567 85,726 1,285,293
Self-pay 8,569 3,108 11,677
Subtotal 2,053,092 228,100 2,281,192
Professionat 461,294 37,310 498,604
Subtotal 2,514,386 T 265410 2,779,796
Home based care 11,518
Total net patient service revenue $ 2,791.314
2023
{in thousands of doflars) PPS CAH Total
Hospital -
Medicare $ 587377 $ 106,370 $ 693,747
Medicaid J 168,410 18,824 187,234
Commercial 862,502 88,492 950,994
Self-pay 11,307 802 12,109
Subtotal 1,629,596 214,488 1,844,084
Professional 504,370 35578 539,948
‘ Subtotal 2,133,966 250,066 2,384,032
Home based care 13,125

Total net patient service revenue 3 2,397,157

Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital

On May 22, 2018, the State of NH and all NH hospitals (Hospitals) agreed to resclve disputed
issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH)
payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the event of legislative changes to the DSH
program. Under the agreement, the State of NH committed to make DSH payments to the
Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds
collected: in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed payments or increased rates for
Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected from state fiscal year (SFY) 2021
through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes ODSH payments to critical ‘access hospitals in an
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amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with the remainder distributed to
Hospitals without critical access de\signation in proportion to their allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Dartmouth Health System received DSH
payments of $96,411,000 and $85,853,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit and,
therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Dartmouth Health System recognized
as revenue DSH receipts of $111,740,000 and $83,582,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Dartmouth Health System paid and recorded
$102,727,000 and $85,715,000, respectively, of NH MET and VT provider taxes. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4%, for NH, and 6.0%, for VT, of certain patient service revenues. The NH MET and
VT provider takes are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets. The agreement with the State of NH expired at the end of
fiscal year 2024, NH hospitals are actively seeking a new agreement with the State of NH.

Accounts Receivable
The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respectlve percentages of

patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023
Medicare 39% 36%
Medicaid 12% 12%
Commercial 37% 41%
Self Pay 12% 11%
Total 100% 100%
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5.

Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2024 and 2023 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments
U.S. govemment securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities
Dornestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Global equities
Real! Estate Investment Trust
Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Cther

Subtotal

Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Subtotal

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10}
Cash and short-term investments

Total assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities
Cash and short-term investments
U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging markets equities

Glaobal equities

Real Estate Investment Trust
Private equity funds

Hedge funds

Other

Total other investments for restricted activities
Total investments

21

2024 2023
$ 11172 .3 6,988
90,786 80,595
314,744 271,321
32,198 37,002
250,418 205,200
95,732 75,199
47,031 37,080
91,609 77,479
104 2
159,387 141,808
59,185 44,558
77 ¢
1,152,443 977,322
39,420 30,366
11,001 13,918
13,025 13,180
11,118 13,994
6,372 5,372
80,936 76,830
777 17,310
1,234,156 1,071,462
6,673 21,243
33,784 27,323
60,369 45,864
4,924 5,282
46,721 30,754
17,716 11,054
8,397 5,187
14,904 10,281
19 18
25,930 18,816
10,135 6,368
54 34
229,626 182,224
$ 1463782 $ 1,253,686
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize investments by the accouriting method utilized as of June 30, 2024
and 2023. ‘Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2024
{in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total
Cash and shori-term investments $ 18622 § - $ 18,622
U.S.-government securities 163,990 - 163,990
Domestic corporate debt securities 153,782 232,332 386,114
Global debt securities 50,147 - 50,147
Domestic equities 256,605 51,652 308,257
International equities 83,754 36,066 119,820
Emerging markets equities 7,451 47977 55,428
Global equities - 106,513 106,513
Real Estate investment Trust 123 - 123
Private equity funds - 185,317 185,317
Hedge funds 507 68,813 69,320
Other 131 - 131
Total investments $ 735112 § 728670 § 1,463,782
2023
{in thousands of doliars} Fair Value Equity . Total
Cash and short-term investments $ 45541 % . $ 45,541
U.S. government securities 138,284 - 138,284
Domeslic corporate debt securities 122,320 208,783 331,103
Global debt securities 55,554 - 55,554
Domestic equities 204,541 45,407 249,948
International equities 57,221 34,404 v 91,625
Emerging markets equities 267 42,000 42,267
Global equities - 87,760 87,760
Real Estate Investment Trust 20 - 20
Private equity funds - 160,624 160,624
Hedge funds 456 50,470 50,926
Other 34 - 34

Tota! investments $ 624,238 § 629448 $ 1,253,686
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For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, investment income is reflected in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets as other operating revenue of
approximately $830,000 and $905,000, respectively, and as non-operating gains of approximately
$124,724,000 and $58,119,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Dartmouth Health System to hold these investments until the fund has
fully distributed all proceeds to the iimited partners and the term of the parinership agreements
expire. Under the terms of these agreements, the Dartmouth Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2024 and
2023, the Dartmouth Health System has outstanding commitments of $97,410,000 and
$79,753,000, respectively.

- 6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2024 and 2023:

{in thousands of doffars} 2024 2023
Land $ 57684 § 40,749
Construction in progress 48,001 43117
Land improvements 62,121 52,054
Buildings and improvements 1,290,315 1,166,776
Equipment 1,159,947 1,101,410 -
Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,618,068 2,404,106
Less accumulated depreciation {1,696,748) (1,592,484)
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 921320 § 811,622

As of June 30, 2024, construction in progress primarily consists of three projects; the renovation of
inpatient wings as part of the Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH, the ambulatory
expansion project in Manchester, NH, and the lab software upgrade to the Lebanon, Cheshire, New
London, and Alice Peck Day locations. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress
is approximately $18,900,000.

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consisted of four projects, the Family and
* Community Care Clinic located in Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH, and two lab software upgrades. to the Lebanon
campus.

Capitalized interest of $0 and $59,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,732,000 and $87,029,000 for 2024 and
2023, respectively.
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Te: Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments consists of money market funds and are valued at net
asset valué (NAV) reported by the financial institution and cash which will be used for future

investment opportunities.

Domestic, Ererging Markets and Inlemational Equities consist of actively traded equity
securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price reported on an active
market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities consists of U.S,
government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual funds and
pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and
global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are nol available, fair values
are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing
from a third-party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix
prices are based on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities,
rather than on specific bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds
are measured based on the quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active
market (Level 1 measurements).

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2024 and 2023:

2024.

{in thousands of doffars) © Leveld Level 2 Loevel 3 Total

Assets

nvestments
Cash and short term investments $ 18622 § - $ - $ 18,622
LS, government securities 163,990 - . 163,990
Oomeslic corporate debt securities 78,164 75,618 . 153,782
Globa! debt securities . 24 925 25,222 - 50,147
Domestic equities 234,107 22,498 - 256,605
International equities 23810 50944 - 83,754
Emerging market equities 7.451 - . 7,451
Real estate investment trust 123 - . 123
Hedge funds . 507 - . 507
Other 96 35 - 131

Total fair valug investments 551,795 183,317 - 735,112
{continued)
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(continued)
Deferred compensation plan assets

Cash and short-term investments 14,463 - - 14,463
Domestic corporate debt securities . 9519 - - 9,519
Domestic equities 54,140 54,140
International equities 7,042 . - 7,042
Mutti strategy fund 66,984 - - 66,984
Total deferred compensation - )
plan assets 152,148 - - 152,148
Beneficial interest in trusts ’ ; 19,466 19,466
Total assets $ 703,943 $ 183,317 3 19466 $ 906,726
2023
(in thousands of dollars} Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets’
Investments
Cash and short term investments $ 45541 % - 5 - $ 45,541
U.S. government securities 138,284 - - 138,284
Domestic corporate debt securities 41351 80,969 122,320
Global debt securities 24 429 31125 55,554
Domestic equities 200,252 4,289 204,541
International equities - 57,221 - 57,221
Emerging market equities 267 - - 267
Real estate invesiment trust 20 - - 20
Hedge funds 456 - - 456
Other - 34 - 3
Total fair value investments 507,821 116,417 - 624,238
Deferred compensation plan assets \
Cash and short-term investments 11,893 . - 11,893
U.S. govermment securities 40 - - 40
Domestic corporate debt securities " 10,453 - - 10,453
Global debt securities 16 - - 16
Domestic equities ; 41,841 - 41,841
International equities 5874 - - 5874
Emerging market equities 21 - - 21
Real estate 14 - - 14
Mutti strategy fund 62,689 - - 62,689
Total deferred compensation . .
plan assets 132,841 - - 132,841
Beneficial interest in trusts - : - 14,875 14,875
Total assets $ 640662 $ 116,417 § 14,875 § 771,954

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation

methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.
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There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the years ended June 30, 2024 and
2023.

8.  Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the. following purposes at June 30, 2024 and

2023:

(in thousands of dollars) 2024 _ 2023

Investments held in perpetuity $ 109649 § 88926
Healthcare services 68,660 38,598
Research 30,663 28,176
Health education 23,708 27,374
Other 18,006 10,825
Charity care 14,241 12,486
Purchase of equipment 13,756 3,950

Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 278,683 $ 210,333

9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. . '

The Dartmouth Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the
preservation of the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds,
absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. The Dartmouth Health System’s net assets with
donor restrictions, which are to be held in perpeluity, consist of {a) the original value of gifts
donated to the permanent endowment, {b) the original value of subsequent gifis to be held in
perpetuity, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the
direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if
any. Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dellar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpese, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
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donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Dartmouth Health System considers the following factors in making
a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments, other resources available; and investment policies,

The Dartmouth Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to
provide a predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring
that the purchasing power does not decline over time. The Dartmouth Health System targets a
diversified asset allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international
equities, fixed income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return
objectives within prudent risk constraints. The Dartmouth Health System’s Investment Committee
reviews the policy portfolio asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Dartmouth Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so
much of an endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent. for the uses, benefits,
purposes, and duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed
in the gift instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their criginal contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2024 and

2023
2024
Without With
- Donor Donor
(in thousands of doffars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ - $ 139,933 & 139,933
Board-designated endowment funds 30,085 - 30,085
Total endowed netassets  § 30,085 $ 139933 § 170,018
2023
Without With
Donor Donor
(in thousands of dolfars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ - % 111,843 5 111,843,
Board-designated endowment funds 28,688 - 28,688
Total endowed net assets ~ $ 28688 % 111,843 § 140,531
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Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024
Without With
Doner Donor
(in thousands of dollars) __Restrictions Restrictions Total
Beginning of year balances $ 28688 $ 111,843 § 140,531
Net investment return 41 11,894 12,305
Contributions - 12,627 12,627
Transfers 1,055 11,165 12,220
Release of appropriated funds (69) {7,596) (7,665)
End of year balances $ 30,085 $ 139933 & 170,018
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 18506
Net assels with donor restrictions $ 158,529
2023
Without With
Donor Donor
{in thousands of dolfars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Beginning of year balances 3 41344 § 107,580° § 148934
Net investment return 212 1,305 1,517
Contributions - 3,201 3,201
Transfers {12,743) 2,561 {10,182)
Release of appropriated funds (125) (2,814) {2,939}
" End of year balances 3 28,688 $ 111,843 & 140,531
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 13,954
Net assets with donor restrictions 3 125,797

10. Long-Term Debt

MHMH established the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) for the purpose of issuing
bonds financed through New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities Authority (NHHEFA) or
the *Authority”. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2024 and 2023 consist of
Dartmouth Health, MHMH, DHC, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The members of the obligated group at
June 30, 2023 consisted of Dartmouth Health, MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD.
Dartmouth Health is designated as the obligated group agent.

Effective June 26, 2024, after approval from the Dartmouth Health Board of Trustees, Cheshire
withdrew from the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note
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securing the Cheshire bonds, will remain outstanding and therefore constitute a continuing joint
ang several obligation of the DHOG.

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several cbligation
of the members of the DHOG {and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members’ gross receipts, The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

(in thousands of dolfars) ‘ 2024

N
=
(o]
(7

!

Variable rate issues ~
New Hampshire Heatth and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 81040 $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
* Authority Revenue Bonds
Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual

amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102
Series 20204, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000 125,000
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual ;
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual -
amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165 109,800
Series 20178, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 88,750 99,165
Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 {5) 22,035 22860
Series 2012, principal matunng in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 20,800 21,715
Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530
Series 20168, principal maturing in varying annua!
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970
Note payable i
Note payable o a financial institution due in varying ,
annual amounts through 2035 (9) ' 125,000 125,000
Note payable to a financial institution due in varying
annual amgunts through 2035 (10) 100,000 -
Total obligated group debt ] 1122827 % 1,037,932

{continued)
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{continued)

Other ! ‘

2021 Series B Hospital Bonds, including monthly payments

of $227,000, including interest of 2.68%, maturing in

December, 2031. $ 20365 § -

2021 Series A Hospilal Bonds, including monthly payments
ranging from $23,333 to $227,000, including inlerest of 2.75%,
maturing in December, 2031. 5,557 -

Morigage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture including
monthly payments of $10,892, including interest of 2.375%.
maturing in November, 2046. 2,267 2,343

Note payable to a financial institution, with principal balance
due in full in June, 2034; collateralized by land and building.
The note payable is interest free, 341 232

Note payable to a financial institution, payable in interest free
monthly instaliments through December 2024; collateralized
by associated equipment. - 32

. Note péyable to the Town of Bennington, VT, with a fixed
interest rate of 3.000%. Payment of principa! and interest
are deferred until March 1, 2025, at which time annual

payments will be made. . 511 -
Total nonobligated group debt 29,041 2,607
Total long-term debt 1,151,868 1,040,539
Add original issue premiumn and discounts, net 76,975 80,112
Less: Current portion ' (22,426) {15,236)
Debt issuance costs, net {6,492) {6,453}
Total long-term debt, net 5 1199925 § 1,098,962

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line
of credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations.
The interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of
5.00%. The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of
4.18%, and matures in variable amounts through 2048.
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(S)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Series 2020A Revenue Bonds
The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series

- 2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being

used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued-NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B, in December
2017. The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is

fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds is fixed,

with an interest rate of 2.54%.

Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20194, in October 2019. The Series
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C, in August 2018. The Series
2018C revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to
refinance the Series 2010 revenue bonds. The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest
rate of 3.22%. y

Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012, The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenue bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.96%).

Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued Series 2014B NHHEFA Revenue in August 2014. The Series 2014B
revenue bonds mature at various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the 2014B revenue
bonds were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of
issuance. Interest on Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B, in J